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These criticisms resulting in pressure on MecGloon, whick ke in
turn passed on to the auditors, seem, in these cases and in others we
will cite elsewhere, to be based partly upon a hardheaded business-
man’s desire to keep down the cost and partly upon an inadequate
knowledge of necessary auditing procedure, extending even to McGloon
on some points, although he had had over 8§ years experience in public
accounting work with Price, Waterhouse & Co.5® However, the
arrangement for the audit was renewed each year even though the
fee was not reduced 509 in 1930, the goal set in the memorandum
quoted above.® The policy of year-end discussions and exchange of
closing and audit instructions established in that year may have
aided in removing, to some extent at least, the conception that too
much work or unnecessary work was being done. The propriety of
giving the client a copy of the audit instructions was discussed at some
length throughout the testimony in the hearings as it appeared at least
possible that Coster’s interest in the instructions may have been due
to ulterior motives. Whether or not this was so, it seems that some

8 R, 1583-1586.

“Q. [By Mr. GALPEER.] Mr. McGloor, would vou say that it was vour effort to kecp these feas at
a minimum?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you say, Mr. MeGloon, that your familiarity with the procedure followed by Price,
Waterhouse & Company gained while you were employed by them, aided you in this undertaking,
in other words, of knowing whether the auditors were doing more than necessary or less than necessary?

A. No, Idon’t think so.

Q. Well, in the various discussions that came up, would you judge what they did by what vou
thought necessary, gained from the experience while vou were cmployed by them?

A. No, when I discussed the point with Price, Waterhouse & Company I tried to find o yardsiick
so that we could measure the fee of one house against the other, and I remember one year preparing a
schedule to show the total assets involved, broken down to show cash and receivables and inventory,
and I listed the figures according to size and then I compared the fee and that was the only vardstick
that Iever used in discussing reduction of fee with Price, Vaterhouse & Company.

Q. Did you follow the type of work they did each year based upon your experience?

A. No, Ididn’t follow what they did except through these closing instructions we would eheck with
Price, Waterhouse & Company before they were engaged or immediately after they were engaged
and we would see what schedules we could prepare for them but I never made any attempt af any
time to find out what they were doing on their assignment.

Q. Who would you say exerted the pressure so far as McKesson & Robbins was concerned as to
keeping these fees down to a minimum, who was interested in that, who took an active part?

A. I think it can be said that all the members of the operating committee of McKesson & Rohbins
including myself.” R. 1585-1586.

80 A letter from Faureguy of the New York office to the Seattle office followed a criticism from that source
and indicates one method of dealing with the problem:

“While we feel that on the whole your recent examinations wore probably conducted intelligently
and without waste of time, and this letter is not intended as a criticism of your work, we feel that,
coming through Mr. Coster, Mr. Ballinger’s latest comnplaints ave of sufficient importance to warrang
our calling them to your attention. We believe that some time after formal instructions for the De-
cember 31st audit are received by us from Mr. Coster, Mr. White should call on Mr. Ballinger to
discuss the points he has mentioned and that a special effort should be made, both in planning the
work and in assigning assistants, to have the next audit condueted to Mr. Ballinger’s entire satisfac-
tiom, if possible. We are, of course, quite aware that clients frequently have an inadequate idea of
what is required in an audit and it might be well for you to furnish him with a copy of the Federal
Reserve Bulletin and tell him that, in a general way, we follow the procedure outlined therein.

“MecKesson & Robbins, Incorporated has become s large organization and we consider the connec-
tion of sufficient importance to warrant our making every effort to clear up without delay any sore
spots which may develop among the executives. Since Mr. White is to be in New York within thic
next few days to attend the meeting of partners and managers, we shall be glad to discuss the abova
matter with him at that time.” Ex. 119,
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arrangement was necessary to insure harmonious preparation for the
actual work of the audit which now will be considered.® In the de-
tailed description of the audit which is to follow, the principal emphasis
must be placed on the work done on the Connecticut Division and its
predecessor companies, McKesson & Robbins, Incorporated (Connecti-
cut) and Girard & Co., Inc.; and on McKesson & Robbins, Limited
(Canada) as the fraudulent transactions discussed herein were confined
to these units.® To give a proper conception of the size of the en-
gagement, the nature of the problems arising on the entire audit, and
the relationship of the two units in which principal interest lies to the
entire work directed from the New York office of Price, Waterhouse &
Co., it is necessary to point out deviations in the conduct of the work
at Bridgeport from that in the other units and to describe to some
extent at least the nature of the work done in those units.

C. INTERNAL CHECK AND CONTROL

In the preceding pages the negotiations with ¥. Donald Coster sur-
rounding the origin and continuance of the series of audits have been
set forth in sufficient detail to establish that the work was in the nature
of a so-called balance sheet audit or examination and that as a general
guide for this type of work Price, Waterhouse & Co. accepted the series
of bulletins which culminated in the one published in January 1936
by the American Institute of Accountants under the title “Examina-
tion of Financial Statements by Independent Public Accountants.”

In introducing the outline for the audit this Bulletin states:

“In determining the nature and extent of his examination the accountant will
necessarily take into consideration, among other things, (a) the purpose of the
examination, (b) the amount of detail included in the statements to be covered

by his report, (¢) the type of business the accounts of which are to be examined,
and (d) the system of internal check and control.”” 893

Each of the first three points in the quoted paragraph are given a
short paragraph of explanation in the Bulletin but the fourth on
‘“internal check and control” is given a relatively extended discussion.
This, in view of the importance of the subject generally and partic-
ularly in this case, is reproduced here:

“An important factor to be considered by an accountant in formulating his.
program is the nature and extent of the internal check and control in the organiza-
tion under examination. The more extensive a company’s system of accounting
and internal control the less extensive will be the detailed checking necessary.

80t R, 1724, 1586, 674676, 965-969, 981-991, 1973-1975.

83 At December 31, 1934, inventories of erude drugs, since proven to be non-existent, were supposed to have
been stored in the plant at Bridgeport, whereas at December 31, 1937, such inventories were supposed to
have been in the hands of the suppliers in Canada. On December 31, 1930, payments on purchases and sales
since proven to have been fictitious were made directly by and to McKesson, whereas subsequently they
were purportedly made by and to Manning & Company, the pretended bank. By selecting these three
dates for detailed study, the major differences in the conditions existing throughout the period were covered.

#3 Ex. 117 (p. 7).
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For example, a plant addition in a large-sized company may be limited to the
amount of a specific appropriation made by the administration; the work may be
undertalien by a construction department, the funds be disbursed by the treas-
urer’s department and the whole be subject to review in the controller’s depart-
ment when the necessary entries are made. In such a case the accouniant is
obviously warranted in making a much less extensive check of the details than in
& small company where the manager orders the expenditure and the bookkeeper
makes the entries.

“The term ‘internal check and control’ is used to describe tliose measures and
methods adopted within the organization itself to safeguard the cash and other
assets of the company as well as to check the clerieal accuracy of the bookkeeping.
The safeguards will cover such matters as the handling of incoming mail and
remittances, the proceeds of cash sales, the preparation and payment of payrolls
and the disbursement of funds gencrally, and the receipt and shipment of goods.
These safeguards will frequently take the form of a definite segregation of duties
or the utilization of mechanical devices. For example, the cashier will have no
part in the entering of customers’ accounts or the preparation of their statements,
and neither he nor the ledger keeper will have authority %o issue or approve eredits
to customers; the clerk recording the labor time and preparing the payroll will
not be permitted to handle the funds; approval and entry of vouchers will be made
by others than the disbursing officer; and stock records and inventory control
will be kept independent of both the shipping and receiving departments. The
extent o which these and other measures are practicable will naturally vary with
the size of the organization and the personnel employed.

“The detailed serutiny and check of cash transactions of large companies can
be performed more économiecally by permanent company employees. Where
such a check is provided, the accountant will modify his program accordingly.
Where the internal check and control are necessarily limited or severely restricted
the examination to be made will be more comprehensive in character but no exam-
ination should be regarded as taking the place of sound measures of internal check
and control, except in cases where the organization is so small as to make adequate
internal check impracticable. Except in the case of a small busiuess, the cost of
a detailed audit would be prohibitive, and the problem is to develop a general
system of examination under which reasonably adequate safeguards may be se-
cured at a cost that will be within the limits of a prudent economy. Iu the large
majority of cases a detailed audit is not justified and the accountant relies on
varicus test-checks of the records. The extent of the examination and of these
test-cheeks is essentially a matter of judgment which must be exercised by the
accountant, based on his experience, on his knowledge of the individual situation
and on the extent of the internal check and control,”” 39

The third point of the four set forth in the Bulletin indicates that
the accountant should consider the type of business of the client in
determining the character of the work to be done. Berger said that
with a new client inquiry as to the principal characteristics of the
business should be made when arranging for the work.’® This pre-
liminary knowledge, or in a continuing engagement knowledge gained

54 ¥x. 117 (pp. §-9).

5 “When receiving instructions [rom new clients it is also desirable to have a brief discussion as to the
nature of the business, the manner of ronducting it, the condition of the records, whether the Company
sells direct to eustomers, or to jobbers, whether any hranches are maintsined. ete., and whother there are any
peculiarities in the business. Information of this kind is useful in instrueting our representatives assigned

to the work and a bare outline is frequently sufficient 4o enable a principal to dirvect nttention to special fea-
tures which should be stressed or pitfalls which should be guarded agajnst.,” ¥x. 168 (p. 12},
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by seniors in charge, can be supplemented by more detailed discus-
sions with officials during the course of the work.

Of the Price, Waterhouse & Co. staff who testified in these pro-
ceedings, Thorn seems to have been the only memher, at least since
the 1928 audit, who inspected the plant.®® When he was placed in
charge in 1929, he wanted to {amiliarize himself with the business and
with that in mind made a trip through the manufacturing sections,
becoause he felt that some cost accounting problems might develop
there. Thorn also testified that during the same year he had a long
discussion with Coster about the crude drug operations and visited
the Cliff Street office in New York to discuss the operations there in
crude drugs (real).*

However, as a junior on the audit for 1927, Thorn (under Jaureguy)
had not been through the plant nor did he (Thorn) take any of his
juniors through when he took charge.”® Ritts had been through a
portion of one of the units of the building not as a part of his audit
work but because when leaving at night the main entrance was closed
and he and his crew had to use the employee’s exit.”® Ritts testified
that he did not take his staff on inspection tours and that he had never
been on one himself. Contact with various divisions of the office was
limited to that gained in carrying out various audit steps. When any
staff member started a new phase of the work, Ritts escorted his
assistant to the proper division and introduced him to the persons in
charge of the records.®® Headquarters for the auditors, where most

s The plant at Fairficld (near Bridgeport) consisted of one large building housing storoge, manufacturing,
and office activitics of the business.

57 R. 866, 954, 1134,

st K. 86-867.

309 R, 649, See also R. 399, 1337, 1343.

50 «Q. [By Mr. GALPEER.] When you get up there with your stafl, dr. Ritts, you would sometimes have
men who were on the jub for the first fime with you?

A. Yes, that is true, That is their first assigrment on the M¢Kesson job.

Q. Do you lake men who have this first assignment, {ake them into the plant, acquaint them with the
physical layout, warehouses, accounting offices, et cetera?

A. Mo, wo don’t do that, TFach man, however, is introduced to the various people whom be will come in
contact with later on throughout his examination, but we make no physical inspection of the plant or the
offices and sucl.

Q. Where does hie meet these people? Do you make your headquarters in a certain room and these people
come in and raect you?

A. Tn recent vears, we bave done most of our work in the directer’s room in the company’s office in
Bridgeport, and when a man, say, was assigned to the verification of cash he would be taken into the cashier’s
office and introduced to the various people with whom he would deal in order to obtain the records and
necessary information he needed.

Another one would be assigned to do aceounts receivable and would be taken out into the company’s
general accounting office and introduced te the office manager and the various people he would come in
contact with in the Accounts Receivable Departweent et cetera, throughout the entire job.

Q. In other words, you do take them and intraduce them: to specific people where there were specific jobs
to be done, but there wounld be no general inspection?

A. No.

Q. When you first came on the job yourself, if you can take your mind back to that time, when Mr. Thorn,
I helieve was there in charge, was that correct?

A. Yes.

(3. Was the same procedure followed then?

A. Yes.

Q. In other words, you were taken through no general inspection tour of the plant?

A, No, I wasnoi.” R.234-235.
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of their work was done, was established in the directors’ room which
was next to Coster’s office. In short, in recent years, with the excep-
tion of Thorn, no member of the auditors’ staff who testified in the
hearings seems to have had more than a limited knowledge of the plant
in which he worked.®!

Rowbotham, when asked generally if the paragraphs on internal
control quoted above indicated “* * * that the accountant in
charge should have a complete and thorough knowledge of the extent
of the internal centrol in the particular house on which he is doing the

audit * * *7 replied, “Yes, I should say he should understand
it,” @02

Various methods are employed by accountants in ascertaining and
appraising the effectiveness of the client’s system. Price, Waterhouse
& Co. for a number of years have used questionnaires as an aid in
developing the necessary information as to the adequacy of their
client’s system of internal check and control. The cover page of their
general questionnaire contained instructions for the completion of the
questionnaire and is of sufficient importance to warrant its reproduc-
tion here:

“QuesTiONNAIRE RE SysTeEm or INTERNAL CHECE
(For Use onN BaLaNcE SmEET AUDITS)

“The scope of a balance sheet audit as defined in the Federal Reserve Bullebin
-of April 1917, comprises a verification of the Assets and Liabilities as of a certain
date, a general examination of the Profit and Loss Account for a period ending
on that date, and incidental thereto an ezamination into essential features of the
accounting, i. e., the system of internal check. 'There is reason for believing thab
the latter requirement has not always received the attention it deserves and the
following questions have been prepared partially to correct this weakness. It
should be borne in mind, however, that the questions are more suggestive than
exhaustive and are, of course, not precisely applicable to every balance sheet
audit.

“The majority of the questions will be found to be answerable from observa-
tions actually made during the course of the work and should be answered by
the assistant doing the particular section of the work to which the questions apply.
If the assistant is unable to answer the questions on the work assigned to him
it is evident that a careful and thorough verification has not been made.

“In cases where the direct method of interrogation is used, the questions
should be taken up with the Comptroller or other responsible officials of the Com-
pany and a note made as to the source of the replies.

“The questions under each section should be answered during the progress of
that part of the work and while the matter is fresh in the mind of the assistant.

“If this method is adopted it will be found that the questionnaire is not at all
burdensome, and that it requires comparatively little time.

“In cases where the name of an employee is asked, his position (when not
evident from the question) should also be stated.

“In filling out questionnaire you should not only ascertain that the necessary

0t Footnotes 598, 599, 600 supre and R. 1115-1117, 1339, 1317-1318 with which cf. R. 1365-1368.
802 R. 1840.
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gsafegnards for purposes of internal control are provided, but you should also be
able to say definitely from observation, inquiry and tests during the course of
the examination that the prescribed procedure is being observed.” {Emphasis
in original.} o

The first questionnaire used on this engagement at Bridgeport was
the printed one from which we have reproduced above the instrue-
tions for its use. Kitts testified that this general questionnaire was
prepared with the Connecticut Company in mind but that it was
i s # * fair to say that it also * * ¥ [applied] in general
to the Canadian Company.” o4 Tt was filled in for the first time on
the 1932 audit in conference with McGloon who, in Ritts’ presence,
wrote all of the answers to the printed questions. Ritts stated that
in subsequent years the accounting procedures were reviewed with
some responsible accounting officer and by observation.® “I don’t
know that we would sit down and actually review it, but if any major
changes came to our attention, I believe we would examine the
guestionnaire to see what was reported for the prior year, make
such changes wherever necessary.” ¢ MecGloon, however, testified
that if be had again been asked the answers to some of these questions,
for example, “Do employees in position of trust take regular annual
vacations?”’ he would have changed the answer from ‘“Yes,” stating,
«x % % Twould have said that the Dietrichs didn’t take vacations,
and I don’t know yet why I didn’t say it in that particular memo-
randum because everybody knew that the Dietrichs didn’t take
vacations.” ® Rowbotham testified in respect to this question that
he would have asked it again each year but not necessarily of the
same person.®®

On the audits for 1936 and 1937 supplementary questionnaires for
the Canadian Company and Connecticut Division dealing with cash,
receivables and inventories were prepared in mimeographed form and
filled in anew in both of these years by the assistants handling each
part of the work ® In addition to the questionnaire in 1937 there
were also handwritten memoranda on accounts payable and cash
receipts. Likewise on the 1932 audit the working papers contained
o handwritten supplement to the cash questions in which a junior
described the disbursing and payroll system and Ritts recorded

w03 Ex. 17.

604 R. 260. In fact major differences prevailed between them. See section III supra and page 187 infra.

s B. 214, 1154-1155.

608 R, 262-263. The questionnaire was amended as to two questions. One of these, were creditors’ state-
ments compared with balances shown in accounts payable vecord, s amended o “No” is not entirely
consistent with the accounts payable work program “(5) Test check open balances at December 31st by
reference to creditors’ monthly statements.” Ex. 47.

87 R, 1700-1701.

«pr. STEwART, You don’t intend to testify that the representatives of Price, Waterhouse & Com-
pany knew it, do you, Mr. McGloon?
The WirNEss. No, Tam speaking of employees of McKesson here.” R.1702.
808 R, 1852-1853.
e R. 257-268.
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answers to sundry questions in regard to cash receipts and disburse-
ments. In 1933 there was another memorandum on the payroll system
and in 1934 there was a note on the Company’s physical count of inven-
tories. A junior, who prepared the inventory supplementary ques-
tionnaires in 1936 and 1937, was the only assistant who signed or
initialed the supplementary questionnaires.®

Rowbotham was questioned as to the propriety of Ritts’ method of
procedure in having MecGloon fill in the questionnaire’ completely
when the instructions we reproduced above indicated that assistants
were to supply some of the information and the last page of the form
had spaces for indicating the pages filled up by the different assistants
but in this case signed only by Ritts. Rowbotham’s interpretation
was that Ritts must have verified McGloon’s answers in consultation
with his assistants or by his own observation but that in any event
MecGloon’s answers were ‘“basic compliance.” He felt that the main
responsibility for the questionnaire laid with the man in charge of the
job.8u

Testimony of a junior ®2 on the 1937 audit, indicates the manner
in which the answering of one of the questionnaires was approached
by one of the assistants on the audit. This junior did certain work on
reccivables and was asked by Ritts to get answers to some of the
questions in connection with that work. He sought out J. ohnson, the
office manager of McKesson & Robbins, as the best source of the
information he wanted. The following extract is significant:

“Q. [By Mr. Gaveesr] Did Mr. Johnson give you a detailed explanation?

A. Well, as I recall it, on the first question he was going to go into detail, but T
explained to him that I just wanted the question answered in as brief a way and as
ageurate a way as possible, and just wanted to get the answers down in here, that
is all I recall on that.

Q. And you gave that back to Mr. Ritts?

A. T gave that back to Mr. Ritts and told him that I had flled that out as per
his instructions.” 63

Rowbotham stated that he thought Price, Waterhouse & Co. “‘would
have a look at” internal control every year and that while knowledge
of the system of internal control should be current at least in the minds
of the men on the job, he did not think it necessary that the question-
naire be changed or rewritten yearly. When confronted, apparentiy
for the first time, with the fact that the questionnaires, especially the
more recent ones, contained several unanswered questions and others

80 Ex. 18, 19, M-3, M-16, M-21, M-26.

SR, 1773-1780.

2 Graduated from alarge southern university, withan A. B. degree in 1936, where he had studied aceount-
ing and assisted in the accounting department during his senior year. Following graduation he worked for
a year as an investigator for the Household Finance Corporation. He joined the staff of Price, Waterhouse &
Co. December 16, 1937, through the aid of an employment agency. He worked that winter until February 15
and again the next season from November 28 to DDecember 28 when he resigned to take a State Civil Service
position in New Jersey.

613 R ,1112-1113,
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incorrectly or incompletely answered his reaction was that the purpose
of the procedure was to provide information for the senior on the job,
and that the senior would not be misled by minor errors and omissions,
and although the answers should be corrected as a matter of routine,
that Ritts “* * * simply taking the job in his stride deesn’t bother
correcting the questionnaire in what has scemed to him prebably at
the #ime as detail.”  As a practical matter, Rowbotham felt that the
manager in charge of the work would leain of changes in the client’s
procedure by questioning the senior on the engagement, and therciors
the deficiencies were merely “‘a matter of paper work.”

Rowbotham was asked to characterize certain of the conditions re-
ported in the questionnaires as to whether they indicated points of
strength or weakness in the system. ‘“Does the cashier have access to
any of the ledgers?” was asked in 1932, 1936, and 1937, and resulted
in apparently conflicting answers. MeGloon’s answer for 1932—
“Yes, customers ledgers”’—was correct as far as it went. “No” in
1936 revealed a possible failure to discover all the facts. This was
remedied by a more comprehensive answer in 1937: “Not under con-
ditions which would permit of entries being made—Sometimes con-
sults ledger cards to determine applicability of a cash item rveceived.”
Rowbotham felt that the condition which seemed to be indicated by
the 1932 answer would not be a point of strength.®°

The questionnaire in 1932 indicated that the president, F. . Coster
(he was alzo treasurcr of the Connecticut and Canadian Compauics),
and assistant treasurer, George . Dictrich, each had authority to
sign checks without countersignature. Although not so indicated
on the questionnaive this procedure was changed later to require
countersignatures, which Rowbotham approved as the better pro-
cedure.s” In the Canadian Company, however, the countersigner was
Margaret Walsh, thic only bookkeeper, who worked solely wnder
George K. Dietrich’s divection; while in the Connecticut Division the
countersigner could be one of George I. Dictrich’s women cashiers.

To the question “Who reconciles the bank accounts and does
amployee preparing or approving checks effect or have supervision
over bank reconciliations?’ McGloon answered ‘“Bank accounts
reconciled by cashiers who prepare checks.” Rowbotham’s opinion
of this situation was that it “was not strong.”®® In 1936 and 1937 this
question was changed to read “If employee keeping part or all of cash
book(s) also reconciles bank accounts—how often, by whom and to

814 R. 1933-1034. Rowbotham remarked with respect to paper work:

‘““Well, sir, if T ever saw a perfect set of working papers I would want to fire the man because I would
think he was paying too much attention to the (uestionnaire and that he was not attending to the
job.” R.1607.

815 R. 1781-1782, 1828-1832.
86 R, 1780-1781; Ex. 19.
47 Bx. 17; R. 1781,

818 R, 1785.
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what extent are reconciliations verified (other than P. W. & Co. exam-
inations)?”’ The answer for 1936 was “Yes—semi-monthly—None,’’
and for 1937 no answer appeared.

The general questionnaire was supplemented in 1932 by another
work paper in Ritts’ handwriting which contained a few pertinent.
questions on cash disbursements and by a memorandum on ‘“‘Cash.
System” prepared by a junior. These stated that vouchers for cash
disbursements were prepared by a woman employee and approved for
payment by George E. Dietrich although he usually neglected to in-
dicate this in writing for his signature rarely appeared on the
voucher. A special form was used for all disbursements such as.
advances, transfers, and sundry items for which no vouchers were
prepared in advance. These disbursements could originate in several
departinents including that of George Dietrich, who approved all of
them. In these cases the payment was made before the liability
was recorded in the accounting department.®® It should be recalled
that George Dietrich, as assistant treasuver, not only appreved
these vouchers, but also signed the checks with a counter-signature
by a person under his contrel.t

The fact that the assistant treasurer opened the mail Rowbotham
thought was “definitely a point of strength” for he felt that some
responsible person should do this work. The fact that George Die-
trich in addition to his other duties also handled foreign crude drug
purchases and sales for Coster did not alter his opinion on this point
so long as he did not have access to the general books, specifically
the accounts receivable ledgers which he understood were controlled
by McGloon and thus served as a check on Dietrich.®

As for the question, ‘Is an independent record of incoming remit-
tances prepaved for comparison later with the collections recorded by
the cashier and, if so, is the comparison made, and by whom?” which
was answered ‘‘No,” Rowbotham stated that although lists were fre-
quently made, this was not much of a point either way; failure to do
it “would not necessarily be a point of weakness.”® A point closely
related to this was covered by Ritts in the short supplementary ques-
tionnaire for 1932, mentioned above, in which he asked “Are duplicate
certified deposit slips retained?” The answer being “No,” it fol-
lowed that no answer appeared for his next question ‘“Can they be
checked out in detail with cash books receipts?”’ The memorandum
on the cash system referred to abovelikewise stated that “No duplicate
deposit slips are received. The deposits are made up by Miss

o Ex. M-3; R. 1624-1642.
620 R. 1639.
#1 R, 1786-1788,

62 Compare this point of view with letiers to McKesson-Whittlesey Company and Milwaukee Drug
Division reproduced at pages 321-322 and 324 infra.
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Bohus.” 8 It seems that this refers to Miss Bakos who testified that
prior to the use of Manning & Company as a bank, she made up
deposits of actual cash and checks received from real customers but
not the deposits purporting to cover receipts from foreign crude drug
customers, since shown to be false, for which memoranda were given
to her by George Dietrich.®* At the time the receipts on the latter
accounts which amounted to approximately 659, of the Connecticut
Company’s receipts on sales were reported on Manning & Company
eredit advices and were not covered in the memorandum.

Questions on receivables included two dealing with circularization
which Rowbotham felt were out of place in a questionnaire as that
subject was covered in arranging for the audit. These were followed
by two gquestions dealing with regular monthly statements sent to
customers and a third which asked “Who mails them?”” to which the
answer was given simply ““ Asst. Treas.,” referring to George Dietrich.
Rowbotham, when asked about this, first questioned whether it was
in fact done by the particular persen as stated in the questionnaire
but limiting his reply to the answer as made, said that it was not a
point of strength. Three other questions dealing with the credit
limit of customers he felt were inapplicable to this audit. The first
“Does ledger sheet show credit limit or what record is kept of it?”’ was
answered “No.” The next two questions asked about accounts
receivable in excess of credit limits and unusually lerge balances,
These were merely checked. A question similar to the first of the
three was answered in 1936 and 1937 by stating that the credit man-
ager did set limits and that they were followed.®® In the 1932 ques-
tionnaire in addition to Titus, a credit manager, George Dietrich and
. D. Coster were listed as passing on credit terms. Rowbotham
stated that he could not remember secing a credit limit shown on a
ledger sheet of a large industry as distinguished from a department
store, so he could not see the purpose of the questions when applied to
the Connecticut Company.52

George E. Dietrich was custodian of securities at Bridgeport.
Rowbothem felt that all purchases of securities should be authorized
by the Board of Directors which was not the case here at least at the
time the 1932 questionnaire was prepared. It may be noted that the
same questionnaire stated that George Dictrich was also the custodian
of all notes receivable and related collateral and that he also retained
control of all notes which had been written off as uncollectible.

G. E. Dietrich eand F. D. Coster, with only one signature required,
were listed by McGloon as the only ones authorized to sign notes

% Ex, M-3.

64 R, 2649-2654, quoted in part at pages 113 ff. supra.

625 The answers do not distinguish foreign crude drug and other business, See pages 232 infra.
626 B, 1795-1798.
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payable and acceptances while the same cfficers and McGloon were
authorized to approve loans to officials and employees. Rowbotham
was surprised at this latter point, for he supposed that only Coster
had that power.®”

Rowbotham agreed that the answers to questions dealing with
shipments were nob informative although Ritts had previously re-
ferred to the questionnaires in explanation of this subj ect.®®  Ship-
ments it seemed were made on regular “order forms” which went to
the production and shipping departments. What bappened after
that was left with a question mark, and whether the tick mark after a
question about back orders meant there were none was left to con-
jecture. These answers were all in McGloon’s handwriting.

The question, “Do employees in position of trust take regular
annual vacations?” was answered “Yes,” although the testimony in
these proceedings indicated that the answer was incorrect when
applied to the brothers Dietrich. Rowbotham’s attitude toward this
point may be considered in connection with his attitude on the desir-
ability of outlining the Company’s organization to show each depart-
ment and to whom it is responsible, a step required by the question-
naire. Both points to Rowbotham were more or less textbook matters
rather than the concern of practical working accountants; neither one
would come to a partner’s attention.5®

The last point worthy of comment in connection with Rowbotham’s
review of the questionnaires are his observations on a question and

027 T2, 1802-1804.

628 R, 214,

Q. {By Mr. @ALPEER]: Mr. Rowbotham, on page 14 of the questionnaire under the category of
General, question No. 7: ‘Do employees in position of trusk take regular anuual vacations?’ The answer to
+hat is ‘Yes.” If the answer had been recorded as ‘No,’ what would vour reactions have been?

A. Well, as 2 matter of fact, my reaction would have been this: That T am afraid I am approaching it not
from the accounting end, My reaction was that it was a bad policy for the corporation not to give its em-
ployecs vacstions becanse in our place I think officials absolutely need vacations.

1 know that is not the answer you want, put that is the way I would have approached the thing.

In the same thing in this, if there had been sorae fairly high placed employee who hadn’t taken it for
several years, I might have taken it up with, let us say, the president of the company and agked him why
this was so. I might have gotten some satisfactory explenation. I would have gone back or had the men
go back and check that man’s book a little more carefully than previously, but beyond that, if the president,
the exceutive officer, had been satisfied T don’t think that it would have concerned me very greatly.

* * * £ * * *

Q. On the unext page, item 16: sOutline the company's organization, showing each department and to
whom it is responsible.” Would you say that that would be a useful thing to do in connection with your
audit and check, or your check of the internal check?

A T think the man ought to have the outline of the thing pretty clear]ly in his head. I mean, we don’t
ag o Tule insist upon 2 man going out and coming back with a chart. Ts there a place here where they speak
of a chart?

Mr. GALPEER: Not that Tknow of. I don’t know.

The Witngss: That simply isn’t the way we work. I think the man ought to have the outline of the
organization in his head and know what he is doing. And I think he should take it up with his particular
superior, Ritts, let us say here, with Thorn.

Q. Would that come to your attention, or would that end with Thorn?

A. That would end with Thorn.

Q. Shouldn’t there be some list of officials with titles, duties, perhaps, somewhere in your papers?

A. That is,~T don’t want to be misunderstood,—a text book requireraent, it is not done in reallife.”
R. 1812-1813,
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answer on the Canadian Company supplemental questionnaire for
1937, which brought out the fact that one person kept all the books.
This one person was at first George Dietrich, and since 1931 Margaret
Walsh, a bookkeeper, who worked solely for him on the Canadian
Company as bookkeeper and stenographer. This situation, Row-
botham agreed; would require more detailed auditing than a situation
in which a greater subdivision of work could be obtaired.®

Rowbotham’s attitude toward the details of auditing mechanics is
clearly evident from many of the answers given to the questions in
the part of his testimony reviewed above. With regard to the ade-
guacy of the client’s system of internal control he testified:

“No, I did not specifically review the questionnaire, and on the question of
intornal control all that I would say to Mr. Thorn was:—I do not remember any
precise form of words,—but what kind of internal control have they got up there
and he would tell me whatever it was that he told me whieh, in this case, was
that they had a good control and I would not sit down with him and go into the
internal control specifically for this reason,—J] may be giving you an individual
opinion here,—but it is this, that I do not think an accountant can go into a
system of internal control unless he actually goes up and sees it himself. In other
words, sir, I think if Thorn here went into the system, I mean, if he is the man on
the job, he has to go up and look into it and satifsy himself * * *7763!
Thorn, in this case, had been close to the work as junior and senior
and since confining himself to managerial duties had received reports
currently from Ritts. If Thorn had brought any weaknesses to his
attention, Rowbotham stated he would have gone into the matter
more thoroughly.

“Q. [By Mr. Stewart.] Just one other question on that. Did you regard Mr.
Thorn, during the time he was manager of the McKesson job as being a perfectly

competent man to pass on the adequacy of the system of internal control?
A. Yes, 1 most undoubtedly did.”’es2

80 «“Q, [By Mr. GALPEER.] Now, on question 9 of the cash questionnaire of the Limited Company for
1927, reading: ‘Does the cashier have access to any of the ledgers?” The answer is: ‘One employee keeps all
the books,” would you say that that condition would require a more careful audit than otherwise, Mr.
Rowbotham?

A. I think it would, and I think it does.

Q. Would you say in view of that that the audit of the Limited Company was the audit of a large or a
small company?

A. It is an audit of an actually—legally, it does happen to be a separate corporation, but it does form part
of this whole McXKesson picture. 1 don’t think that you can quite call it 2 small company. In quite the
senso—X do agree and I think this is the point you have in mind, I do agree that more care should be exer-
cised where one man has control of the hooks, as I think was true in this case.

Q. As a matter of fact, just to clear the record and see if we can come to a common view: In a situation
like this, where the Limited Company’s books were all kept by one man, in what respect would the audit
of that company be any different for being a subsidiary of McKesson than if you had just gone in and,
let us say, had been retained solely to do these books for the Limited Company?

A. If you had been retained solely to do these books for the Limited Company and one man hac access
to everything, I think you would make a pretty well detailed audit. If it fits into part of a larger picture,
I think you can lessen the amount of detail, but I think you do more detail than you do on the ordinary
financial or balance sheet examination.” R. 1825-1827.

61 R. 1932.

02 R. 1933-1934.

205078—40——13
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The foregoing review of the questionnaires indicates that Row-
botham held Thorn, the manager in charge, responsible for a correct
appraisal of the adequacy of McKessen’s system of internal check and
control. Thorn’s appraisal of the system is summarized in the fol-
lowing paragraphs. _

The fact that George Dietrich combined the office of assistant
treasurer (in which capacity he controlled all receipts and disburse-
ments) and his duties in buying and selling foreign crude drugs, did
not seem to Thorn to have any bearing on internal check, even though
these foreign transactions were approximately 659, of the Connecticut
Division’s business and approximately 909, of the Canadian Com-
pany’s business.®® As Thorn understood the system as it applied
to foreign crude drugs, Dietrich was merely a clerk executing orders
for Coster who made the decisions. Thorn had talked with Coster
in 1929, and at various times since then, and had the definite impression
that Coster had been in that business for many years and continued
to decide all questions of purchase and sale of crude drugs himself.
While theoretically Thorn thought there might be a minor weakness in
this system, nevertheless he felt that Coster’s control over Dietrich
was so close, that Coster would have caught the first attempt to put
through a fictitious order. Observation convinced him as to who gave
the orders and who did the clerical work.5¢

Thorn testified that all incoming mail came to George Dietrich’s
office, that no list of remittances was prepared, and that he could not
recall ever having suggested that it be done nor could he recall having
discussed the problem with Ritts.®® Thorn also related that until
recent years, all customers’ statements went over George Dietrich’s
desk for approval before mailing, but that W. E. Titus, credit manager
for receivables of the Connecticut Division other than crude drugs
complained of the delay in mailing statements, so that thereafter
only foreign erude drug statements were sent to Dietrich prior to
mailing.® MeGloon testified that Titus, whose office was in New
York, then made it a practice to go to Bridgeport the first of each
month to review the statements of the other customers.®7

The cashier’s office was under George Dietrich and bank accounts
were reconciled by the women in this office. Thorn did not know to
whom they were responsible, whether McGloon or Dietrich.5®
McGloon, whose department received duplicates of checks as pre-
pared, testified that bank statements and cancelled checks themselves
were kept in the vault in Dietrich’s office, to which he did not have

033 Page 45 supra.
64 13, 1163-1169.
635 R. 1171.

638 R. 1169-1170.

837 R. 1646-1650.
638 B, 1172,
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access, although he did not remember having been refused any docu-
ments he requested from Dietrich.%*

Although purchase orders went to the receiving department and
while it was better for the receiving clerk not to know what had been
ordered, Thorn was of the opinion that the men actually preparing
the receiving tickets would not have the orders, even though Robert
Dietrich, who controlled their work, would have them. The fact
that Robert Dietrich was in control of warehousing, as well as head of
the receiving and shipping departments, Thorn thought was only a -
minor weakness. During the last 3 years when the foreign crude
drugs presumably were held at suppliers Robert Dietrich’s clerks
made out memoranda indicating this, using the regular receiving
ticket forms. On the basis of the documents in evidence it would
appear that these memoranda must have been prepared either from
a copy of the McKesson purchase order or from the vendor’s invoice.

The effect of the series of transactions as Thorn understood them
was that he relied on the purchase order originating with Coster and
initialed by George Dietrich, a purchase invoice from outside and a
debit advice from Manning & Company.®® For sales he relied on an
order from outside, “W. W. Smith & Co.”, an approval by Coster
passed along by George Dietrich, shipment from an outside source,
“Smith acting as shipping agent’ and, finally, on actual receipts of
cash. However, the apparent actual Coﬂectlon of the cash was to him
the most positive eévidence of the transactions.®® But Thorn did not
know that soon after the pretended establishment of Manning &
Company as a bank all of the foreign crude drug customers supposedly

paid through it.%

The question was raised with Thorn as to whether George Districh
could have authorized credits to customers’ accounts to cover up
abstraction of receipts from customers. He thought that if this
Lad been attempted the transactions would have come to the attention
of Johnson (office manager) or McGloon, but that it was probable that
Dietrich’s authority to order the credlts would have been recognized
by these men, although Thorn thought that Dietrich “* * * couldn’t
have done that consistently at least.”” %%

Thorn got the impression from conversations with George Dietrich
that he went on hunting trips. Thorn was not sure now what he
would have done but said that if he had known that George Dietrich

9 R, 1590, 1663-1665.

40 R, 1175.

&1 ““You first have the order coming in from the outside, in this case the order would be offered by W. W.
Smith & Co., you have the approval by Mr. Coster passed along by George Dietrich. You have later the
advice of shipment from the outside source, in this case, Smith, acting as shipping agent, and you have later
on the actual cash coming in paying for that sale, the cash actually coming in, I say, and that is, it seems

to me, the most positive evidence that you can have of these tranactions.” R. 1175-1176. See also R,

1128-1129 quoted at page 226 infra.
612 *No, I had nob understood that all these collections did go into Manning & Company ' R.1177.

See also R. 010-911. Ritts testified to the same effect. R. 558-559, 140.
63 R, 1180.
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never took reguiar vacations, he thought he would have gone to
Thompson, the treasurer, rather than to Coster just as a matter of
dipiomacy, for Coster might have resented any implication he might
tele from the inquiry. Furthermore, George Dietrich was acting
under Thompson as assistant treasurer of the Maryland Company 5
As a last resort Thorn said he would have gone to Coster from whom
there would have been no appeal ®

As for the Canadian Company, Thorn did not know what Miss
Walsh’s duties were, whether she could co-sign checks or that she kept
a cash book separate from those maintained by the cashiers uuder
Dietrich’s direction.’

Thorn’s general approach to the use of questionnaires is indicated
by the fact that he did not enforce their preparation on all divisions
of the McXKesson work for he said that a senior could omit revising or
preparing a questionnaire:

“In cases where the senior thought that it was not necessary, 1 might say, if it
will clarify this matter any, that that question of questionnaives is something that
is in a continual state of revision, you might say. In.fact, I believe new forms,
new ideas are being applied to that almost every year, and there are some seniors
that either because they think that particular examination does not require a
gquestionnaire or because pessibly in some cases that they do not believe in ques-
tionnaires, wouldn’t make one out.”’s7

Thus it appears that Thorn, as manager, delegated the decision
as to the manner of securing such information to the men under him %8
On the Bridgeport work in recent years Ritts then was responsible
for developing the facts with respect to the system of internal cheeck
and control®® How thorough was his knowledge and how did he
appraise his findings in reporting to Lis superiors?

Ritts is on record in only one place in the working papers, as to
his opinion of the client’s system of internal check and control. At
the close of each engagement, a form, known as a condensed exami-
nation summary, was prepared and filed with the working papers.
Although this practice was abandoned prior to the completion of the
1937 audit, Ritts for that year, as he had done for prior years, prepared
and signed one of these summaries for the Canadian Company and one
for the Maryland Company and subsidiaries.®® The report for the
Maryland Cowpany and subsidiaries for 1934 (approved by Thorn) !
described the internal check as “fairly satisfactory.” The first ve-
port of this tvpe for the Canadian Company was prepared by Ritts

i R, 1183,

IR, 1238.

a0 R. 1181,

67 R, 1153. But 2t page 165 supr1.
18 Page 183 supra. Of R 112,
840 R, 1121,

S0 R. 44404453
HBx. 211 (not prepacad Yy Rinnst.
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for the 1935 audit. It described the internal checis as “‘satistactory.”” &2
For 1937, Ritts called the internal check of the Canadian Company
“satisfactory’’ and that of the Maryland Company and subsidiaries
“fairly satisfactory.”

The form carried brief specimen comments for matters on which a
rating wasrequested. Underinternal check were suggested “excellent,””
“fairly satisfactory,” ‘“‘should be strengthened,” and “organization
too small to permit adequate check.” The Canadian Company’s
system of internal check, by this scale, was just short of excellent
according to Ritts’ judgment, yet the working papers indicated what
has been shown above, that all the books were kept in the beginning
by George Dietrich and in recent years by one bookkeeper under his
supervision and Rowbotham testified that under such circumstances
“ % x % you domore detail than you do on the ordinary financial
or balance sheet examination.” *

Although the instructions to representatives of the firm required
that comments on the system of internal check and coutrol be in-
cluded in the report to the New York office on each branch audit,
Ritts never included such comments in his memorandum to Thorn
on the work done at Bridgeport, although Thorn stated that such
matters were discussed with him.® %% Thorn testified that while he
gave Ritts a copy of these instructions, they applied only to the
wholesale houses and not to the divisions at Bridgeport, and it was
his opinion that Ritts never read them.®’

Ritts, whom Thorn considered competent and understood what to
do, stated that Lie made a survey of the system and was sure he was
satisfied that the system was satisfactory.5® In respect.to the foreign
crude drug transactions, Ritts relied upon the fact that all the trans-
actions went through the gencral office staff on both purchases and
sales at at least one point and that they were not a segregated division
of the office routine. There spemed to him to be enough people
required in the receiving and shipping office to prepare the receiving
tickets besides Robert Dietrich to preclude their being forged. He
also relied upon the fact that there was an outside invoice in addition
to George Dietrich’s approval of the purchase order, and that it was
matched in the comptroller’s office with the order and receiving
ticket.’® This was the same system that applied to other purchases.

633 Wx. 208, 210. The raling for the latter would appear to be lower thau the'former because of the in-
fluence of unsatisfactory conditions in the wholesale houses which will be discussed in a subsequent sub-
seclion, pages 315 ff. infra.

64 R, 1826 quoted at footnote 630 supre. See also pages 51 and 18%-183 supre.

o 68t R, 1121

657 R. 614, 985, 1120.

68 R, 209, 615, 969-971, 1120.
9 R, 619-621.
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" On sales, Ritts explained that the billing was done on the basis of a
factory order, which in turn was based upon a W. W. Smith & Co.
shipping notice (from an outside source) but he gave conflicting testi-
mony as to how these transactions were handled for he could not recol-
lect the details. He did not recall seeing any bills of lading, consular
Invoices or insurance certificates covering these shipments, and ex-
plained that these must have been sent to the customer with the
invoice. He could not state definitely from recollection how the
system worked but he agreed that all the documents involved, insofar
as the general accounting office was concerned with these sales transac-
tions, came from or went back to George Dietrich’s office.®® In short,
as will be shown more fully hereinafter in connection with the discus-
sion of the audit of cash, accounts receivable, intercompany accounts,
inventories, accounts payable, sales, and other profit and loss accounts,
Ritts although on the job at Bridgeport for 8 years could not state
with precision the manner in which the foreign crude drug transactions
were handled at the Bridgeport offices. In particular it should be
observed that important differences in the manner of handling the
foreign crude drug accounts and the other accounts receivable seem
to have been overlooked by Ritts and his staff.t®

Ritts’ conception of the reliance to be placed upon officers and the
extent to which he would determine by independent checking whether
the answers as given to him by MecGloon, were, in fact, a correct
statement of the conditions actually prevailing in the office is indicated
by the following quotation from his testimony:

“Q. [By Mr. Garrerr.] And if you had known, as a matter of fact that Mr.
Robert Dietrich and George Dietrich had never taken an annual vacation, would
that have made a difference to you?

A. It may or may not have.

Q. What is the purpose of asking this question if the answer does not make any
difference to you?

A. If the question there had been no, they do not, or if you had inquired spe-
cifically regarding any one particular employee and you were told no, then, you
might inquire as to why, or call it to the attention of the company and place the
responsibility direct with them.

Q. Well, isn’t it the auditor’s responsibility—what is the purpose of asking
these questions if you are not to assume some responsibility for their answers?

A. Well, I think when we answered the question yes, that they did, that that
was-as far as we need go.

Q. And you took Mr. McGloon’s word for that and you didn’t make any inde-
pendent check aside from that to determine whether the two men in fact did take
or did not take annual vacations?

A. 1did not inquire specifically of anyone, that is a question directed to any and
all responsible employees, and when the vice-president and comptroller of the
company tells you something, there is no need to question it that I could see.

Q. Without arguing about this further, will you just follow me here. Assuming
you had independently checked, and assuming that you did find out that these two

660 R. 625-627
%! E. g. pages 231-239 infra.
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men in these two key positions never took any annual vacations, and assuming
you did find out that whenever Mr. George Dietrich was away on account of ill-
ness, Mr. Robert Dietrich took his position, would that have had any effect on
you?

A. That is a hypothetical question. I don’t know. That would depend on the
circumstances.

Q. What circumstances would help you determine?

A. I really couldn’t say. It depends on a great many things, I suppose. I
mean, isn’t that rather hypothetieal?

Q. I mean it as such. After all, one of our purposes here is to examine what
safeguards exist and whether these things can be detected.

A. I suppose you might inquire as to why they didn’t take annual vacations.
If you got & reasonable explanation from them and had no further reason to in-
quire into that question, you may be inclined to drop it or if you felt you should
follow or rather follow the question further on you would. You might discuss it
with the treasurer of the company, you might discuss it with the president of the
company

Q. But at any rate, if you had run down some of these items, such as we have
discussed this morning in regard to mail and in regard to vacations, you might
have gotten some key to the situ ation that we are here trying to look into.

A. Youmay have. Idon’tknow. My belief is that they would have probably
given you some reasonable explanation that you would have been willing to accept
in the absence of any information such as we have now.

Q. Well, isn’t it the auditor’s job also to be, perhaps, * * % g little suspi-
cious of these things, not just take things at their say-so?

A. I don’t think any auditor is ever instructed or told to be suspicious. Ithink
the average auditor is inclined to be somewhat skeptical, but, on the other hand,
when you are dealing with what appear to be responsible and reputable people,
and they make a statement of fact to you, I don’t think that I possess the tact to
contradict them in such a way as not to offend them and imply that I do not believe
what they are telling me.

Q. Do you believe it to be part of your job that if you are told by a comptroller
or an assistant treasurer that a certain fact is the case, that so and so mailed letters,
or that so and so does take a vacation, that you owe no further duty to make any
further independent check?

A. I think so, yes.

Q. That would apply te any job you would do, not particularly McKesson &
Robbins?

A. That’s right.

Q. And, here, if such check had been made to a further degree, you might have
discovered things that led to this entire situation?

A. T don’t think I would subscribe to that statement. Actually I don’t know
what might happen. My belief is that I might have received some reasonable
explanation from someone, which I might have been willing to accept.

Mr. Henperson. May I just ask cne question there?

Mr. Gavpesr. Certainly.

Mr. BENDERSON. To whom would you have next gone to get an explanation?

The WirnNess. Mr. Coster.”” 62 '

The foregoing review of the Price, Waterhouse & Co. approach to
the important question of internal check and control may be sum-
marized by recalling that the questionnaires used by the firm directed

t62 R. 204B-297.
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attention to the importance of making sure that the procedures
described by officials of the client were actually followed in practice and
were adequate protection; that Rowbotham, the partner, did not read
the questionnaires but relied instead on Thorn, the manager, to report
any significant discoveries; that Thorn in turn felt that minor weak-
nesses in internal check and control as reflected in the questionnaires
were not important enough to report to a partner, and furthermore
that he left the manner of using the questionnaires to the discretion
of the senior on the job; and that Ritts, upon whom Thorn relied to
gather the facts at Bridgeport, felt that in making balance sheet
examinations, the “* * * accountant is only charged with making
general inquiries with regard to the internal control exercised by the
company.’’ %3

It may also be recalled that Rowbotham thought that the unan-
swered requirement on the questionnaire to outline the Company’s
organization to show each department and lines of responsibility was
a textbook requirement not carried out by practical accountants,
although he thought the man on the job ought to have the outline of
the organization in his head and take it up with his immediate
superior,

It is interesting to observe in this connection that although the
McKesson & Robbins organization was set forth in a printed chart
and was accompanied by a bulletin of instructions in the form of &
letter by F. Donald Coster to all executives and heads of departments
in the Company, both effective September 1, 1937, no member of the
auditors’ staff who was questioned about it could recall having seen
either chart or bulletin. Ritts when asked about the bulletin said
that other bulletins issued by Coster from time to time were sent to
his office but that he had never seen this one and that in so far as he
knew it was not in their permanent file for the engagement.®®

The style of this bulletin was marked by repeated emphasis on the
direct responsibility of all departmental executives, including the
secretary, treasurer, and vice-president in charge of auditing and
accounting (the comptroller), to the president of the corporation.t®
Although the organization chart indicated that the president was
responsible to the Executive Committee and it in turn to the Board
of Directors, no reference to this control was made in the bulletin
except that the bulletin mentioned that the chart was adopted and
approved by the Executive Committee. Coster said in the bulletin,
however, that “At all times it is to be made clear that every one in
the company is responsible, direstly or indirectly, to the President
of the corporation. The President, however, in his general super-

83 R. 218,
%4 Footnote 629 supra.

8% Bx. 14, 97; R. 240.
W6 Of. footnote 365 supra. Cf. also R, 4279-4280; Ex. 203.
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vision of the business shall act through the men of proper responsi-
bility as indicated 1n the chart attached hereto.”

“Mr. Geo. E. Dietrich’’ was shown on the chart as the senior of three
officers of the “Drugs & Chemicals Trading & Buying” department.
Shown as associated with him were “Mr. Chas. Hermann’’ and ‘““Mr.
Simon Baum.” Testimony of Hermann indicated that he and Baum
operated the real trading of this department and that they were not
subject to Dietrich in their work. The department was shown on the
chart as a part of the Connecticut Division under “Mr. Wilbur
Dewell”, vice-president in charge. All foreign subsidiaries and all
foreign departments were shown as under the direct and exclusive
supervision of Coster.

Thorn was asked if the chart seemed to him to be an accurate
presentation of the organization as he knew it. Looking at it gener-
ally he could not point out any inaccuracies. Thorn’s opinion of
George Dietrich’s position was that in respect to crude drug opera-
tions he acted only in a clerical capacity and did not have any execu-
tive position in the foreign department. When questioned specifically,
however, Thorn agreed that in this capacity George Dietrich received
instructions from Coster direct and not from Dewell as indicated on
the chart. Thorn also agreed that the chart was in error in omitting
any reference to George Dietrich as assistant treasurer, in which
capacity he routed all routine receipts and signed the checls for most
disbursements.®’

Thorn understood that Robert Dietrich’s purchasing activities
were confined to items other than crude drugs, and that he was in
general charge of shipping and receiving and of inventories located at
Bridgeport. In so far as these activities involved transactions in
foreign crude drugs, Robert Dietrich also was not in fact subordinate
t0 Dewell as shown on the chart.5®

Thorn was quite certain that neither the bulletin nor chart were
in the permanent files for the engagement as he reviewed those each
year himself. When he was asked what he would have done if he
had seen a reference to them in minutes of the Executive Committee,
he testified that he might have locked at them and would have asked
for copies had he thought them important.®®

In closing this general survey of the auditors’ knowledge of the
MecKesson system of internal check and control it may be appropriate
to quote a question asked of both Ritts and Thorn by counsel for
Price, Waterhouse & Co.:

“Summarizing the net effect of all of the controls that you have described and
the number of people who had to handle each transaction in the crude drug de-

663 R. 1162.
662 B, 1162-1163.



192 SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

partment in the way it was handled, is it fair to say that it would have been
impossible for the fraud which is now indicated in this situation to have been
carried out without ecollusion between the president of the corporation, the
assistant treasurer of the corporation, the head of the stock department of the
corporation, and somebody on the outside to take care of sending in invoices from
suppliers, bank statements, bank debit advices and other papers?”’

Ritts answered, “I think that is quite obvious.” Thorn’s answer
was, “1t would have been absolutely impossible without very extensive
collusion from the president of the company right on down” through
all the people mentioned in the question.s™

Then followed another question by counsel for Price, Waterhouse
& Co.:

“¥ & ¥ have you, in your study of accounting and in your experience as a
public accountant prior to the present case ever read or come in contact with or
heard of any situation in which there existed such widespread collusion between
high officials, subordinates and outsiders?”’

Both answered that they had not,® although Price, Waterhouse &
Co. in an examination some years ago uncovered the clue to the
gigantic fraud perpetrated by Ivar Kreuger."? While there may be
points of dissimilarity between the fraud perpetrated by Ivar Kreuger
and that perpetrated by Coster, the following excerpts from the Price,
Waterhouse & Co.5 report in the earlier case seem particularly appro-
priate in view of the specific question asked of Ritts and Thorn.

““The perpetration of frauds on so large a scale and over so long a period would
have been impossible but for * * * (4) the loyalty or unquestioning obedi-
ence of officials, who were evidently selected with great care (some for their
ability and honesty, others for their weaknesses), having regard to the parts
which Kreuger intended them to take in the execution of his plans,

“The frauds could not have been consummated without assistance—witting or
unwitting—of some of his associates, including some of the officers of the holding
and financial companies * * * Tt is apparent that * #* * subserviency
if not complicity on the part of some of the employees * * * and forgery
of documents in order to meet demands for evidence confirmatory of book entries,
all contributed to prevent such audits as were made from resulting in exposure.’’ 7

D. CASH IN BANKS AND ON HAND

The preceding subsection dealing with internal check and control
indicated the importance of that subject in relation to the audit
program and a subsequent section will demonstrate Price, Water-

70 R. 724, 7244, 1232, (For Rowbotham’s opinion, see his testimony quoted as the conclusion of this
section, page 358 infra.)

&l R, 724A, 1233.

72 P, 495,

03 Continental firm.

74 “A. B. Kreuger & Toll Group of Companies—Final Report dated November 28, 1932—Price, Water-
house & Co., Stockholm” printed in Hearings before & Sub-Committee of the Committee on Banking and
Currency of the United States Senate on Stock Exchange Practices, Part 4, January 11-12, 1933. Thorn
stated he had read about the report but of course had nothing to do with the work on it. R.1246. See also
P, 495-496 and Ivar Kreuger II, “Fortune,” June 1933.
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house & Co.’s recognition of the inadequacy of such control in some
of the umnits of McXesson & Robbins subject to their examination.®*
Further recognition of the internal control feature of the work is
found in the firm’s instructions to the stafl in connection with the
examination of cash transactions. Testimony reviewed in the previ-
ous section, in this, and in sections to follow on receivables and inven-
tories indicate that a proper verification of the cash transactions was
considered an important step in establishing the authenticity of
transactions with customers and creditors, as well as in verifying the
halances of cash on hand and in bank. The following quotation is
from the cover page of a two page Price, Waterhouse & Co. memo-
randum regarding verification of cash and bank balances in connec-
tion with so-called balance sheet audits and appears beneath the
comment that “this is a supplement to, and not a substitute for, the
Federal Reserve Bulletin.” ¢

“To pHE MEMBERS OF THE STATF:

We think it well to eall the attention of our staff to the fact that, in organiza-
tions where an adequate system of internal check cannot be maintained by
reason of the smallness of the organization, our examination into the cash transac-
tions, particularly the verification of the cash and bank balances at the close of
the period under audit, should be conducted in a careful and painstaking man-
ner and that the limited verification as outlined in the Federal Reserve Bulletin
of April, 1917, should be extended. We have, aceordingly, prepared and are
attaching hereto a memorandum outlining the procedure to be followed in con-
nection with the verification of the cash and bank balances and it is requested
that the schedules containing particulars thereof should show clearly the extent
of the verification effected. Where bank practice does not permit of an exact
adherence to the methods outlined (as in New York), the verifications should be
of a character substantially equivalent.

' Price, Wareraouse & Co.”

The memorandum itself, because of its importance in relation to the
work of the audit, is reproduced in full:

“MEMORANDUM REGARDING VERIFICATION oF CasH AND Bank
BaLances IN CONNECTION WITH SO-CALLED BALANCE
SHEET AUDITS

“Tp verifying the cash the following procedure should be adopted, viz:

(1) The cash on hand in so far as circumstances permit should be counted
promptly at the close of business on the last day of the month of the period
covered by the audit.

(2) In the'event that the cash is not counted at that time it may be necessary
when it is actually counted to make a supplementary and simultaneous verifica-
tion of the bank balances.

“Nore.—This applies particularly to ecompanies not having a petty cash fund
under the imprest system.

78 Pages 186-187 supra and 318 ff. infra.
6% Ex. 17.
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“(3) Items other than currency and coin must be listed in detail and the nature
thereof properly described in the working schedules.

“(4) Checks and vouchers supporting disbursements and held in lieu of cash
must be listed and full particulars regarding the date of the check and voucher
and names of payee and payer embodied in the schedules.

“(5) Receipts from employees for advances or any other items should be listed
in detail with dates.

“Norm.—The items listed under (4) and (5) should be presented to a responsible
official of the company for his approval.

““(6) The eancelled checks returned by the bank during the last month of the
period should be compared with the entries in the cash book, i. e., name of payee
and amount of check, while checks dated prior to the closing month should be
compared with the previous reconciliation prepared by the client. The endorse-
ments on the checks must be serutinized; and where endorsements exist other
than those of banks and the payee, inquiries should be made to determine whether
or not irregularities exist in connection with such unusual or irregular endorse-
ments. Before the completion of the audit the outstanding checks which form
part of the bank reconciliation should be obtained from the bank direct and com-~
pared with entries in the cash book.

“(7) Outstarding checks not examined at previous audit on account of not
being cancelled and returned by the bank before completion of work should be
inspected and traced to the.cash book entries.

“(8) In cases where the system of internal check in force is weak the cancelled
checks for some other month than the last month of the year should also be
examined and compared with the disbursements recorded in the cash boolk.

“(9) Currency checks for other than petty cash disbursements should be
inquired into and tested by examination of supporting documents. A list of such
checks and the account to which expenditure has been charged should be prepared
for official’s approval.

“(10) Any erasures on a check, indistinet endorsements or other suspieious
features should be earefully inquired into.

“(11) Securities or negotiable instruments should be examined simultaneously
with cash count.

“(12) Cash receipts (daily) for at least the last month of the period should be
traced to the bank statement.

“(13) In cases where the internal check is weak a comparison of the collections
recorded in the cash book should be made with the original deposit slips on file at
the bank or with copies thereof obtained direct from the bank for a period of at
least ten days prior or subsequent to the close of the period.

“Nore.—If any suspicious eircumstances develop during the course of the
examination they should immediately be called to the attention of a prineipal of
the firm or to the manager in charge of the work. This should be done by the
assistant before the matter is discussed with the client.”

The actual cash work program prepared for use on the McKesson
engagement adhered closely to the requirements laid down in the
memorandum. The program " reproduced below was prepared in
mimeographed form by Thorn for use on all units of MeKesson &
Robbins under examination by Price, Waterhouse & Co.’s New
York staff. A similar program of work was followed in the other
offices of the firm .5

o7 Ex. 21, 20; R. 970.
3 R. 439-441, 970-971.





